ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
APR 21 2014
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from York County
Honorable Lee S. Alford, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2012-213281

City of Fort Mill,

Appellant,

vs.

Colin Duane Fitzgerald,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
Honorable Lee S. Alford, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2012-213281

City of Fort Mill,

Appellant,

vs.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The circuit court lacked jurisdiction to hear this case because the original case in municipal court ended in a mistrial. Further, the sentence issued should be declared null and void and the case remanded for trial. As a result, Respondent's sentence and both orders of the circuit court should be vacated and the case remanded for trial.
- II. The circuit court erred in finding the City failed to produce a video recording in conformity with section 56-5-2953 of the South Carolina code; erred in finding the arresting officer was required to provide an affidavit; and erred in reversing Respondent's conviction and dismissing the charges.
- III. The circuit court erred in failing to consider the totality of the circumstances prior to reversing Respondent's conviction and dismissing the charges against him.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent was arrested for driving under the influence on October 9, 2011. His case proceeded to trial April 24, 2012. The City proceeded on the charge of driving with an unlawful alcohol concentration (DUAC). Prior to trial in the Municipal Court for the City of Fort Mill, Respondent's counsel made several motions to dismiss the charges related to the failure to comply with section 56-5-2953 of the South Carolina Code (Supp. 2011). The Municipal Court, Judge Peter J. Lenzi, Jr., denied the motions. The jury convicted Respondent of DUAC. The jury, however, failed to find a breath alcohol concentration (BAC) so the trial court did not sentence Respondent. The trial court granted a mistrial because the error was determined after the jury was released.

On May 1, 2012, Respondent filed his Notice of Appeal indicating the failure of the jury to find the BAC and raised issues related to the trial court's failure to dismiss the case. He did not raise any issue related to the mistrial being granted by the municipal court. The Honorable John C. Hayes, III, considered the appeal and found it not ripe because Respondent had not been sentenced. Even though the issue of the mistrial was not raised to him, Judge Hayes ordered the mistrial be set aside and remanded the case for sentencing. Respondent was subsequently sentenced by the municipal court. This sentencing was done without a hearing attended by the parties and without notice to the State.

Respondent again filed a Notice of Appeal.¹ The circuit court reversed his conviction and sentence finding the officers failed to produce a proper video recording of the incident scene. The State filed a timely Notice of Appeal from this ruling.

The State filed a motion to vacate the rulings of the circuit court and to remand for a new trial which this Court denied. Subsequently, this case was certified to the South Carolina Supreme Court. The Supreme Court denied a motion to vacate and remand. Further, the Supreme Court remanded for this Court to consider the appeal. This Brief follows.

¹ This Notice of Appeal appears to have been filed prior to the sentence being issued by the municipal court and is, therefore, a premature filing. Respondent never filed an amended Notice of Appeal after sentencing.

ARGUMENT

- I. **The circuit court lacked jurisdiction to hear this case because the original case in municipal court ended in a mistrial. Further, the sentence issued should be declared null and void and the case remanded for trial. As a result, Respondent's sentence and both orders of the circuit court should be vacated and the case remanded for trial.**

The City maintains the orders of the circuit court and the sentence of Respondent have been issued without proper jurisdiction and believes the orders and sentence should be vacated and the case remanded to the municipal court for a new trial. The circuit court did not have jurisdiction to hear an appeal after the grant of a mistrial. As a result, all orders and court actions since that time have occurred without proper jurisdiction and should be considered null and void.

Procedural History

The appeal arises out of a conviction for Driving with an unlawful alcohol concentration (DUAC). Respondent was arrested for driving under the influence on October 9, 2011. His case proceeded to trial April 24, 2012. The City proceeded on the charge of driving with an unlawful alcohol concentration (DUAC). Prior to trial in the Municipal Court for the City of Fort Mill, Respondent's counsel made several motions to dismiss the charges related to the failure to comply with section 56-5-2953 of the South Carolina Code (Supp. 2011). The Municipal Court, Judge Peter J. Lenzi, Jr., denied the motions. (Return dated August 14, 2012; R.60-61)

The jury convicted Respondent of DUAC. The jury, however, failed to find a breath alcohol concentration (BAC) in accordance with its duties under section 56-5-2933(L) of the South Carolina Code. The matter was brought to the Court's attention by

Respondent's counsel. The Municipal Court did not enter a sentence for Respondent because the jury's determination is necessary to establish the range for sentencing after a conviction for DUAC. Instead, the trial court, *sua sponte*, granted a mistrial because the error was discovered after the jury was dismissed. (Verdict; R.64).

On May 1, 2012, Respondent filed his Notice of Appeal and Appellant's Brief. He appealed the conviction, even though the Municipal Court had granted a mistrial. In his Notice of Appeal and Appellant's Brief, he claimed the Municipal Court erred in refusing to dismiss the case based on the failure of the City to comply with section 56-5-2953. Respondent failed to raise any issue related to the mistrial being granted by the Municipal Court. (Notice of Appeal and Appellant's Brief; R.44-54).

The Honorable John C. Hayes, III, considered the appeal. Even though no issue related to the mistrial was before him, Judge Hayes ordered the mistrial be set aside as improvidently granted. Further, he remanded the case for sentencing according to the verdict of the trial jury. (Form 4 Order of Judge Hayes dated June 27, 2012; R.6-7). The ruling occurred even though Respondent never requested the mistrial be set aside or the case remanded for sentencing.

According to the York County Clerk of Court's stamp, Respondent filed a second Notice of Appeal from the conviction on July 23, 2012.² (Notice of Appeal filed July 23, 2012; R.55-57). As before, Respondent raised three issues related to the videotape and lack of an affidavit in violation of section 56-5-2953(A) and (B). At the time he filed this second Notice of Appeal, Respondent still had not been sentenced by the Municipal

² The date of service of this Notice of Appeal is questionable. The Notice of Appeal is stamped filed by the Clerk of Court for York County on July 23, 2012. The Certificate of Service which accompanies the Notice indicates it was not served on the City or the Municipal Court until July 30, 2012, even though the page listing the July 30 date is stamped by the Clerk as filed July 23.

Court. (Return of Appeal by Judge Lenzi dated July 27, 2012; R.58-59). According to the Municipal Court's Return, no conviction existed and the case remained on the Jury Trial Docket.

Counsel for the City attended two hearings in an attempt to have Respondent sentenced, but neither resulted in a sentence. Subsequently, and without parties present or being in open court, the Municipal Court sentenced Respondent to a \$997 fine or 30 days in jail. The City learned about his sentencing only after the fact. (9/12T. 3-7; R.10-14). The Department of Motor Vehicles received notice of the conviction on August 6, 2012. (Uniform Traffic Ticket; R.62-63).

A second hearing was held in circuit court before the Honorable Lee S. Alford. The hearing was held September 7, 2012. At the hearing, the City's attorney explained to the circuit court the circumstances under which Respondent was sentenced. Further, the parties argued the issues raised by Respondent's second Notice of Appeal and Brief.

After hearing argument, the circuit court issued an Order filed September 28, 2012, reversing the conviction and dismissing the case. The court found the lack of audio on the video recording, and the arresting officer's failure to provide an affidavit pursuant to Section 56-5-2953(B) to explain the lack of audio, necessitated dismissal of the charges. (Order of the Judge Alford; R.1-5).

Merits

Any decisions of the circuit court have been without proper appellate jurisdiction and on interlocutory, unappealable rulings. As a result, neither Judge Hayes not Judge Alford had subject matter jurisdiction to entertain any issues related to this case and Judge Lenzi no longer had jurisdiction to impose sentence on Respondent. The rulings of

Judge Hayes and Judge Alford should be vacated, along with the sentence imposed by Judge Lenzi. All these actions occurred subsequent to a mistrial being granted, which ended the case and set the parties back at the position they held prior to the trial.

Subject matter jurisdiction, defined by the Supreme Court as the “the power of a court to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong,” may be raised at any time and may not be waived by the parties. State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 100, 610 S.E.2d 494, 498 (2005). The circuit court’s appellate jurisdiction should be considered similar to subject matter jurisdiction. Accordingly, it should not be allowed to be waived by consent or action of the parties and should be allowed to be raised at any time. See e.g., Floyd v. Page, 124 S.C. 400, 117 S.E. 409 (1923) (finding even though both parties appealed after a mistrial thereby clearly indicating their assent to appellate jurisdiction, the appeal was prematurely brought, and jurisdiction thereof may not be entertained by the appellate courts).

First, a court’s grant of a mistrial is not appealable. Section 14-25-95 of the South Carolina Code provides: “Any party shall have the right to appeal from the **sentence** or **judgment** of the municipal court to the Court of Common Pleas of the county in which the trial is held.” In the instant case, because the municipal court granted a mistrial, there was no sentence or judgment in the case from which Respondent could appeal to the Court of Common Pleas. The statute does not allow appeal from a conviction without a final sentence; it only allows appeal to the circuit court from a final sentence or judgment.

Respondent did not appeal from a judgment or sentence. The municipal court did not pronounce sentence, but, instead, ordered a mistrial because he already dismissed the jury and there was no means to make the determination required in order for Respondent

to be sentenced. As a result, Respondent appealed after the municipal court ordered a mistrial which meant there was no final sentence and the parties were placed back in their original positions as if trial never occurred. As a result, the circuit court did not have jurisdiction to entertain the appeal. See Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts, 393 S.C. 332, 344, 713 S.E.2d 278, 284 (2011) (finding appellate jurisdiction conferred only when notice of appeal is filed with the municipal court “within ten days after sentence is passed or judgment rendered”); Keels v. Powell, 213 S.C. 570, 573, 50 S.E.2d 704, 705 (1948) (finding premature any appeal brought after a mistrial has been declared and finding Court did not have jurisdiction to hear appeal).

Further, Respondent’s Notice of Appeal and Appellant’s Brief did not list as an issue on appeal anything related to the grant of the mistrial. Instead, Respondent attempted to appeal the denial of his motions to dismiss. Judge Hayes’ Order only related to the grant of the mistrial, and, as a result, was on a basis not properly appealed to him. Section 14-25-95 requires the party appealing to set forth the ground for appeal in the Notice of Appeal. As a result, Judge Hayes, without proper jurisdiction, ruled on issues not properly raised in the Notice on Appeal dated May 1.

Additionally, this case is similar to the case of Floyd v. Page, 124 S.C. 400, 117 S.E. 409 (1923). In Floyd, the parties were involved in a civil suit which ended in a mistrial. Both parties filed an appeal from the mistrial alleging the trial court erred in denying their respective motions for directed verdict. This Court stated:

The effect of the mistrial was to leave the parties litigant in *statu quo ante*, with the cause still pending for trial in the circuit court. The rulings of the trial judge in the court below having eventuated in no binding adjudication of the rights of the parties, the appeal is prematurely brought, and jurisdiction thereof may not be entertained.

Id. As in Floyd, the appeal to the circuit court was premature and Judge Hayes' Order should be declared null and void as he ruled without proper jurisdiction. Because his order required the sentencing to take place, any sentence given to Respondent is also null and void. The appeal to Judge Alford should then have not taken place and, as a result, the entire case should be remanded to the municipal court for a trial in which all issues raised by Respondent in the circuit court can be addressed by the municipal court.

In addition, if a party is not entitled to appeal an order of the lower court, any ruling on appeal should be deemed null and void. In State v. Smith, 383 S.C. 159, 679 S.E.2d 176 (2009), the South Carolina Supreme Court vacated an opinion of the Court of Appeals because the Court found the State did not have a right to appeal the underlying order of the lower court. Id. at 169, 679 S.E.2d at 182. Under this precedent, this Court should vacate the ruling of Judge Hayes, and all subsequent rulings, because Respondent did not have the right to appeal from the grant of a mistrial. Any ruling by the circuit court would be null and void just as the ruling in Smith.

Also, the appeal brought before Judge Alford was premature and should have been dismissed. The Notice of Appeal was filed with the court on July 23, 2012. On July 27, 2012, the Municipal Court indicated his belief there was no conviction as a result of the mistrial being granted. Respondent had not been sentenced by July 23, 2012, and so the requirement of section 14-25-95 that an appeal lie only from a sentence or a final judgment had not been met. Finally, based on the information from the DMV, it appears the sentence was not sent to them until August 6. As a result, the appeal was not from a final sentence or judgment and should not have been heard. Respondent never filed an Amended Notice of Appeal to indicate the conviction was final after sentencing.

Accordingly, Judge Alford was without proper jurisdiction under section 14-25-95 to hear the appeal and his ruling should be vacated and the case remanded for a new trial pursuant to the mistrial entered by the Municipal Court.

As a final matter, the sentence itself is invalid, null and void and should be vacated. The sentence was not issued in open court with either party present. Further, it was issued in violation of Respondent's right to be present at all important stages of a case. This State has long held that sentences of a convicted defendant must be passed in open court and with the defendant present. See State v. Chancellor, 32 S. C. Law (1 Strob.) 347 (Ct. App. 1847). Additionally, sentences not rendered in open court have been declared null and void. See State v. Nathans, 49 S.C. 199, 27 S.E. 52, 62 (1897). Finally, this Court recently reiterated the need for having an oral pronouncement of a sentence in open court with the defendant present. In Boan v. State, 388 S.C. 272, 695 S.E.2d 850 (2010), the Court found an oral pronouncement made with the defendant present superseded a later written sentence because the safeguard of having the sentence made in open court without the defendant present was not followed in making the written sentence. As a result, in this case, the sentence issued by the Municipal Court with no parties present, and without any hearing being conducted in open court, should be vacated.

Accordingly, based on the foregoing, the City believes this Court should vacate the orders of the Judge Hayes and Judge Alford and the sentence imposed by the municipal court, all of which have occurred without jurisdiction of those courts to take the actions taken. All actions taken by the lower courts were after the grant of a mistrial, which had the effect of vitiating the prior trial and proceedings and setting the parties

back in the position of awaiting trial. Further, both orders of the circuit court were issued without proper appellate jurisdiction as neither involved an appeal from a final conviction and sentence as required under 14-25-95. Finally, the sentence imposed was null and void because it was not done in open court with the parties present. As a result, all orders subsequent to the grant of a mistrial by the municipal court should be vacated and this case remanded for a new trial.

II. The circuit court erred in finding the City failed to produce a video recording in conformity with section 56-5-2953 of the South Carolina code; erred in finding the arresting officer was required to provide an affidavit; and erred in reversing Respondent's conviction and dismissing the charges.

The trial court erred in finding the City failed to produce a video in conformity with section 56-5-2953 of the South Carolina Code. The trial court erred in requiring an affidavit from either the arresting officer or the officer who video recorded the incident scene. Finally, the trial court erred in dismissing the charges against Respondent.

Factual Background

Sergeant Boone with the York County Sheriff's Department witnessed a vehicle swerving and crossing the yellow lines. The swerving of the SUV is recorded on Sgt. Boone's vehicle dash camera. He then turned on his blue lights and stopped the vehicle. Sgt. Boone already had a defendant from an unrelated case in the back of his vehicle, so he requested assistance from Fort Mill Police Department on the stop. Officer Baird arrived and took over the investigation of the stop after talking briefly with Respondent and Sgt. Boone. (Video of incident scene; T. 12-15; R.19-22).

Sgt. Boone remained and his vehicle camera continued to record the DUI investigation performed by Officer Baird. During the investigation, Sgt. Boone returned to his vehicle while wearing his microphone, thereby eliminating any audio of the investigation from being recorded. The video shows Officer Baird conducting several field sobriety tests, including the HGN, the walk and turn test, and the one-leg standing test. Further, the video shows Respondent being placed in handcuffs. Officer Baird then pulls something out of his shirt and shines his light down on the item while he appears to be reading the card, which he indicates is his Miranda Rights card. (Video; T.14; R.21).

Officer Baird testified before the municipal court and explained what he was doing on the video and put his Miranda card into evidence. The uncontradicted testimony at the circuit court hearing was Officer Baird testified: “I pulled it out. This is me.” The solicitor explained: “And he [Officer Baird] pointed out in the video, this is me reading the Miranda card at this point.” (T.14; R.21). Appellant never contested the fact he was read his Miranda rights, nor did he challenge the sufficiency of the rights he was provided.

Law/Analysis

In a criminal appeal from the municipal court, the circuit court does not review the matter de novo; rather, the court reviews the case for preserved errors raised by appropriate exception. S.C. Code Ann. § 14–25–105 (Supp. 2012); Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts, 393 S.C. 332, 341, 713 S.E.2d 278, 282 (2011). In criminal appeals from the municipal court, the circuit court is bound by the municipal court’s findings of fact if there is any evidence in the record which reasonably supports them. See Rogers v. State, 358 S.C. 266, 269 n. 1, 594 S.E.2d 278, 279 n. 1 (Ct. App. 2004). The appellate court’s review in criminal cases is limited to correcting the order of the circuit court for errors of law. City of Rock Hill v. Suchenski, 374 S.C. 12, 15, 646 S.E.2d 879, 880 (2007).

The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature. State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 561, 647 S.E.2d 144, 161 (2007).

All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the maxim that legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used. A statute’s language must be construed in light of the intended purpose of the statute. Whenever possible, legislative intent should be found in the plain language of the statute itself.

Id. (internal citations omitted).

“The legislature’s intent should be ascertained primarily from the plain language of the statute. Words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction which limits or expands the statute’s operation.” State v. Dupree, 354 S.C. 676, 693, 583 S.E.2d 437, 446 (Ct. App. 2003) (internal citation omitted). Further, it is a “well-settled rule of statutory construction, that a court is bound, if possible, to give some place and effect to every word found in a statute.” Burns v. Gower, 34 S.C. 160, 13 S.E. 331, 332 (1891); see also, Breeden v. TCW, Inc./Tennessee Exp., 355 S.C. 112, 120, 584 S.E.2d 379, 383 (2003) (finding every “word, clause, and sentence must be given some meaning, force, and effect, if it can be done by any reasonable construction”).

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