IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Lee S. Alford, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2012-213281

---

City of Fort Mill,

Appellant,

v.

Colin Duane Fitzgerald,

Respondent.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

J. Tyler Burns  
SC Bar No. 77512

Post Office Box 1297  
Fort Mill, SC, 29716  
803-579-4492

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JAN 11 2014

SC Court of Appeals

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. **Appellant's motion to remand this case to the municipal court has already twice been made and ruled upon by this Court and the Supreme Court. The circuit court did not lack jurisdiction to hear this matter and any potential error on the part of the circuit court is procedural and not jurisdictional. Finally, to remand this case would be a waste of judicial resources as only questions of law, not facts, are presented for review.**

Appellant's contention that this case should be remanded for a new trial because the circuit court lacked jurisdiction to hear the matter is entirely without merit. Appellant has raised this argument previous to its initial brief on April 26, 2013, in a motion to this Court to entitled Motion to Vacate Circuit Court Rulings; Remand for a New Trial; and Dismiss Appeal Without Prejudice. Respondent replied to this Motion and Appellant's Motion was denied by this Court. Appellant then filed to the South Carolina Supreme Court on July 26, 2013 in a motion entitled Motion to Certify Case to Supreme Court; Vacate Circuit Court Rulings; Remand for a New Trial; or Accept Jurisdiction and Grant Extraordinary Relief. Appellant's Motion to certify this question was initially granted by the Supreme Court. Respondent then filed a Motion to reconsider in which the Supreme Court reversed its previous order and subsequently declined to certify. This case was then remanded to the Court of Appeals. Appellant has raised this issue twice before. Respondent has responded to this issue twice before and twice before both this Court and the Supreme Court has denied Appellant's contentions that the circuit court lacked the jurisdiction to hear this case.

Appellant's argument that the circuit court was without jurisdiction to hear the appeal is incorrect. Section 14-25-90 of the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976 as Amended) states that "Any party shall have the right to appeal from the sentence or judgment of the municipal court to the Court of Common Pleas of the county in which the trial is held." The Court of Common

Pleas for York County had the jurisdiction to hear the appeal. However, Appellant confuses the jurisdiction of the court with the procedural error concerning the ripeness of the appeal. The Respondent was convicted of a jury for the offense of DUAC and Respondent appealed that judgment to the Court of Common Pleas. Whether or not Respondent filed the appeal at the correct time is a question of procedure, not of jurisdiction. As Judge Hayes states in his order, the first appeal from Respondent was not ripe and the case was remanded for sentencing. But simply filling the appeal prematurely did not rob the circuit court of its jurisdiction.

Appellant has also waived this argument by failing to preserve it for the review of this Court. As Appellant mentions in its initial brief, "Respondent failed to raise any issue related to the mistrial being granted by the Municipal Court." (Initial Brief of Appellant pg. 5). On this Appellant is correct and just as Respondent never asked the municipal court to declare a mistrial, Respondent never raised this issue to the circuit court on appeal. Just as the Municipal court decided on its on motion to declare a mistrial, the circuit court decided on its on motion to set the mistrial aside. Appellant cites State v. Smith, 383 S.C. 159, 679 S.E.2d 176 (2009), stating "the South Carolina Supreme Court vacated an opinion of the Court of Appeals because the Court found the State did not have a right to appeal the underlying order of the lower court." However, Respondent never appealed the mistrial to the circuit court. The only issues that were appealed by Respondent were the issues of law concerning the videotaping statute that should have resulted in dismissal of the Respondent's charges at the municipal court. If Appellant felt that Judge Hayes erred in his decision to set aside the mistrial, Appellant should have appealed that decision. However, Appellant never raised the issues of Judge Hayes' order. Instead, Appellant abided by Judge Hayes' order and the case was remanded for sentencing. After sentencing the case was then re-appealed and argued before Judge Alford. It is the Order of Judge Alford that

Appellant now appeals, not the order of Judge Hayes. Because Appellant never appealed the ruling of Judge Hayes, Appellant has not preserved this issue for review and it should not be considered by this Court now.

To remand this case for a new trial would only serve as a colossal waste of judicial resources and economy as nothing would be resolved from a new trial. Everything at issue in this case and this appeal are matters of law, not matters of fact that could be decided by a new jury. If this case were to be remanded, then a new jury would hear the same evidence and facts. But regardless of their decision of the facts, all involved with this present appeal would be left to start over in settling the issues of law. The facts before the previous jury that convicted the Respondent are the same exact facts that would be presented to a new jury. The issue in this current appeal is whether or not Respondent's conviction was properly reversed by the circuit court because the City's failure to provide a recording that complied with section 56-5-2953 or a sworn affidavit excusing that failure. As the record reflects, the City made a willful decision to not keep the video recording equipment inside their patrol cars in operable condition because of a financial dispute the City had with the Department of Public Safety over who was to pay for the upkeep to this equipment. At trial the City provided no video of the incident site. The City provided no sworn affidavit excusing the failure to provide a video, and in fact, admitted that they could not submit such an affidavit because the City made the conscious decision not to take reasonable efforts have been made to maintain the equipment in an operable condition. As the Supreme Court held in Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts, 393 S.C. 332, 344, 713 S.E.2d 278, 284 (2011), "prolonged failure to equip its patrol vehicles with video cameras defeats the intent of the Legislature; therefore, the Town should not be able to avoid its statutorily-created obligation to produce a videotape by repeatedly relying on subsection (G) of section 56-5-2953." These facts

exist the exact same now as they did previously at pretrial, trial and the circuit court appeal. There is no reason that these facts, as they exist on the record and as the law of the case, should change in the future. The City could not provide a video of the incident site at trial. The City could not present an affidavit at trial excusing noncompliance with the section 56-5-2953 because of the ruling of Roberts. Because the facts have been and will always be these same set of facts, to remand this case for a new trial would only serve to delay this the resolution of this matter and bring all the parties back to this same position at a later time.

There is no valid purpose that can be served by remanding this case to the municipal court for a new trial. Such a remand would only serve to waste the resources of this and all lower courts involved. A remand would resolve none of the issues brought before this Court now and would only cause a delay in the resolution of Respondent's case.

**II. The circuit court was correct in finding that the City failed to produce a video conforming to section 56-5-2953 of the South Carolina code of Laws; and correctly reversed Respondent's conviction for DUAC because the arresting officer failed to provide a sworn affidavit to justify his failure in complying with the videotaping statute.**

The circuit court correctly ruled that that the arresting officer failed to provide a video complying with the statutory requirements of section 56-5-2953 or a sworn affidavit to excuse this noncompliance. Because the arresting officer failed to comply with the statutory provisions of 56-5-2953, the circuit court was correct in reversing the Respondent's conviction for DUAC.

**Factual Background**

As stated above, the initial traffic stop of the Respondent was initiated by Sgt. Andy Boone of the York County Sheriff's Office. Due to Sgt. Boone already having another individual, from a previously unrelated incident, detained in his patrol car, Sgt. Boone requested that Fort Mill Police Department take over the DUI investigation. Officer Baird from the Fort Mill Police arrived on scene and took over this investigation. At this time, Sgt. Boone returned to his patrol car.

At trial, the City offered the video from Officer Boone's patrol car. Because Sgt. Boone returned to his car immediately after Officer Baird arrived, the video from Sgt. Boone contained no audio of Respondent or Officer Baird. At no point did the City ever produce a video from Officer Baird's patrol car or a sworn affidavit justifying Officer Baird's failure to comply with the statute. At the hearing before Judge Alford, Counsel for the City conceded "there is no audio on the tape and we have to concede there is no sworn affidavit." (9/12/2012 T. page 15, lines 7-9). In fact, Appellant even went so far as to admit that Officer Baird could not produce a video or an affidavit because Fort Mill Police Department willfully refused to keep their video equipment

in operable conductions because they could not get the money from the Department of Public Safety. (9/12/2012 T. pages 22 line 2 through page 24 line 14.) Appellant is incorrect in that Respondent never contested the fact that Officer Baird claimed to have read Respondent his Miranda rights. One of the pretrial motions made for dismissal of the case was based on the fact that the video does not show Respondent being advised of his Miranda warnings. The video from Sgt. Boone's car does show the Respondent being placed in handcuffs. At this point, Officer Baird moved behind Respondent and positioned himself between Sgt. Boone's patrol car and the respondent so that Respondent's body was partially obstructing Officer Baird from the camera's view. Officer Baird appears to reach into his pocket and appears to remove something from that pocket. But due to the fact that Officer Baird moved behind the Respondent, it is not clear what he may have taken out of his pocket.

### Law

The circuit court correctly reversed Respondent's conviction because the arresting officer in this case, Officer Baird, failed to comply with the statutory requirements of Section 56-5-2953. Section 56-5-2953(B) states "Failure by the arresting officer to produce the video recording required by this section is not alone a ground for dismissal of any charge made pursuant to Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945 if the arresting officer submits a sworn affidavit." (emphasis added). Additionally, this present case is very similar to the facts of State v. Landis, 362 S.C. 97, 606 S.E.2d 503, 505 (Ct. App. 2004). Landis was pulled over by a State Transport Officer for suspicion of DUI. Shortly after the transport officer initiated the traffic stop State Trooper Davis arrived on scene. The Trooper Davis conducted the field sobriety tests, determined that Landis was impaired and, as this Court emphasized, placed him under arrest for DUI. This Court also stated in Landis that "Therefore, we hold that the State Transport Officer

merely assisted in facilitating the traffic stop. Trooper Davis was the arresting officer responsible for meeting the statutory videotaping requirements of section 56-5-2953(A).”

The facts of Landis are almost identical to the facts of this current appeal. Sgt. Boone merely assisted in facilitating the traffic stop. It was Officer Baird who conducted the field sobriety tests, made the determination that the Respondent was under the influence, and placed Respondent under arrest. Therefore, Officer Baird is the arresting officer that must have met the statutory requirements of section 56-5-2953. The only video provided in this case comes from Sgt. Boone, who is not the arresting officer. Because Officer Baird was the arresting officer, it is Officer Baird who is required to either produce a video that meets that statutory requirements of the section, or produce a sworn affidavit. In this case, Officer Baird did not produce a video or submit a sworn affidavit. In fact, no affidavit was ever submitted from Officer Baird or Sgt. Boone excusing the lack of audio on the video from Sgt. Boone’s patrol car.

Because Officer Baird is arresting officer for the purposes of section 56-5-2953, it was Officer Baird that is required to meet the statutory requirements of the statute. Because Officer Baird did not submit a video or an affidavit, as is required to be in compliance with the statute as the arresting officer, the circuit court correctly reversed Respondent’s conviction. This is a clear violation of the videotaping statute and as such under City of Rock Hill v. Suchenski, 374 S.C. 12, 15, 646 S.E.2d 879, 880 (2007), the only remedy is dismissal of Respondent’s charge.

Respondent agrees that the “Cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of legislature.” State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 561, 647 S.E.2d 144, 161 (2007). Also that “the Legislature’s intent should be ascertained primarily from the plain language of the statute. Words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning.” State v. Dupree, 354 S.C. 676, 693, 583 S.E.2d 437, 446 (Ct. App. 2003). And when this “well-settled rule of

statutory construction, that a court is bound if possible, to give some place and effect to every word found in a statute,” it is clear that the circuit court correctly reversed Respondent’s conviction. Burns v. Gower, 34 S.C. 160, 13 S.E. 331, 332 (1981). When every word, clause and sentence in section 56-5-2953 is examined, it is clear that the City failed to comply with the law and the only remedy under City of Rock Hill v. Suchenski, 374 S.C. 12, 15, 646 S.E.2d 879, 880 (2007), is dismissal of Respondent’s charge.

In this case the City failed to provide a video that complied with the statute. Section 56-5-2953 reads:

(A) A person who violates Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945 must have his conduct at the incident site and the breath test site video recorded.

(1)(a) The video recording at the incident site must:

(i) not begin later than the activation of the officer's blue lights;

(ii) include any field sobriety tests administered; and

(iii) include the arrest of a person for a violation of Section 56-5-2930 or Section 56-5-2933, or a probable cause determination in that the person violated Section 56-5-2945, and show the person being advised of his Miranda rights.

The statute starts out that a person must have his conduct at the incident site recorded. As stated in State v. Murphy, 392 S.C. 626, 631, 709 S.E.2d 685, 688 (Ct. App. 2011), “Conduct is generally defined as one’s behavior, action or demeanor.” According to Merriam-Webster’s dictionary, conduct is defined as 1. the way that a person behaves in a particular place or situation; 2. the way that something is managed or directed. <http://www.merriam-webster.com/>. Likewise, behavior is defined as the 1 : the manner of conducting oneself. Similarly demeanor is defined as 1: a person's appearance and behavior, 2: the way someone seems to be to other

people. *Id.* What all of these have in common, when looking at the plain meaning of each word in their plain and ordinary meaning is that the legislature clearly intended for a person's physical as well as verbal conduct to be included on the video of the incident site. In looking at a person's behavior, the manner of conducting oneself. It is not enough that you can physically see the person, but in order to truly observe their behavior, you have to see and hear them. To include one without the other would be to only observe half of one person's conduct because a person's verbal statements or responses to questions would be part of their conduct.

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